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Arbitration Training

Exercises
Exercise 1 – Classification:
The union filed a grievance on behalf of the grievant, who is assigned to a WG-8 position, seeking his permanent promotion to a WG-10 position.  The arbitrator found that the grievance concerned classification and was not subject to arbitration, and he denied the requested relief of a permanent promotion.  However, the arbitrator found that the grievant had been temporarily promoted to the WG-10 level and had continued to perform WG-10 work after the expiration of his temporary promotion.  As a remedy, the arbitrator awarded him a series of temporary promotions with backpay for periods in which he had continued to perform WG-10 work.

The agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award is contrary to § 7121(c)(5) of the Statute.

How should the Authority rule?

[Based on 64 FLRA 10]

Exercise 2 – Classification:
An employee requested a desk audit to determine whether her position should be reclassified at a higher grade.  About a year later, the agency reclassified the employee’s position at a higher grade after performing the desk audit.

The employee filed a grievance alleging that the agency violated the CBA by failing to complete the reclassification process in a timely manner.

The arbitrator found that the grievance was non-arbitrable, based on § 7121(c)(5) of the Statute.  The union files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award is contrary to § 7121(c)(5).

How should the Authority rule?

[Based on 64 FLRA 946]

Exercise 3 – 7116(d):

The agency notified the union of its intent to conduct a reduction in force (RIF), and issued voluntary separation incentive pay (VSIP) surveys to employees.  In response, the union requested certain information pursuant to the CBA and requested to bargain over the agency’s reorganization plans.  Subsequently, the union filed a ULP charge alleging that the agency violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute by:  (1) failing to bargain over the RIF procedures and accompanying VSIP buyouts; (2) bypassing the union in distributing VSIP surveys to bargaining-unit employees; and (3) failing to provide the union with information requested pursuant to the parties’ agreement.  According to the ULP charge, the agency’s failure to bargain and provide requested information constituted a “repudiation” of certain articles of the CBA.

A Regional Director of the Authority declined to issue a complaint.

Subsequently, the agency conducted the RIF as planned, and several employees were reassigned to different positions as a result.  The union filed a group grievance on behalf of thirteen employees, alleging that the RIF was a “sham” and that the agency had violated the RIF regulations and the parties’ CBA by not properly assigning employees using accurate RIF retention registers.

The arbitrator denied the grievance in part and sustained it in part.

The agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that § 7116(d) of the Statute barred the arbitrator from resolving the grievance.  In this connection, the agency asserts that the union cited the same articles of the CBA as the grounds for its claims in both the ULP charge and the grievance.

How should the Authority rule on the exceptions?

[Based on 61 FLRA 797]

Exercise 4 – 7116(d):

The union filed a ULP charge alleging that the agency violated the Statute by placing “individuals on a new schedule without completing an appropriate bidding process.”  That same day, the union also filed a grievance alleging that the agency implemented “a unilateral change in the basic watch schedule” in violation of the parties’ CBA.  The union later withdrew the ULP charge, but brought the grievance to arbitration.

The arbitrator addressed the agency’s claim that § 7116(d) of the Statute barred the grievance.  He found that the issues and legal theories in both the ULP charge and the grievance were the same and that the union, in its discretion, selected the ULP procedure.  The arbitrator then found that the ULP charge and the grievance were filed on the same day, and that, on the ULP-charge form, the union official had denied that it had raised this matter in any other procedure.  The arbitrator stated that the union official’s denial would be “ostensibly valid if he perceived the theories and the subject matter to be different at the time the ULP charge and the grievance were filed.”  The arbitrator declined to “assume” that the ULP charge was filed first “absent probative evidence as to the sequence of the filings.”  Finding no probative evidence that the ULP charge was filed first, the arbitrator concluded that § 7116(d) did not bar the grievance.  On the merits, the arbitrator found that the agency violated the CBA as alleged.  

The agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award is contrary to § 7116(d) of the Statute because the arbitrator was barred from resolving the grievance.  (There is no claim that the ULP and the grievance involve different issues.)
How should the Authority rule?

[Based on 62 FLRA 54]

Exercise 5 – 7116(d):

An employee is a Union representative who, for an extended period, was only required to account for his time and attendance on a bi-weekly attendance sheet, while other employees used a daily attendance sheet.  When a new supervisor was assigned to his work section, the supervisor directed him to sign in and out on the daily attendance sheet.  
On January 12, 2010, the Union representative filed a ULP charge, which claimed that the agency violated the Statute by unilaterally changing the sign-in procedures without giving the Union notice and an opportunity to bargain.  The General Counsel issued a complaint, which was submitted to an ALJ for decision.
While the ULP complaint was pending, the representative refused to use the daily sign-in sheet and was suspended for 5 days.  
On February 2, 2010, the representative filed a grievance that was submitted to arbitration claiming that the suspension was not for just cause as required by the CBA.  The Arbitrator agreed and ordered the suspension vacated and the representative made whole.
The agency has filed exceptions to the award claiming that the grievance was barred by § 7116(d) of the Statute because the representative filed the ULP charge before he filed the grievance.  The Union argues that the exception should be denied because the issues of the charge and the grievance are not the same.
How should the FLRA rule?
[Based on 53 FLRA 1301]

Exercise 6 – 7121(d):

Following her non-selection for a vacant position, the grievant, believing that she had been discriminated against because of her age, filed an informal complaint with an EEO counselor.  She and the agency subsequently entered into a settlement agreement resolving her complaint.  As part of the settlement agreement, the grievant agreed not to pursue the issue in her complaint “under any other avenue of redress.”  The settlement agreement also provided:  “In the event that the complainant perceives that management has failed to comply with the terms of this agreement or that this agreement is being violated in any way, complainant will notify, in writing, the Commander’s Designee within 30 days of the violation.”  The settlement agreement also permitted the grievant to request the reinstatement of her complaint in writing if the agency failed to carry out the terms of the settlement agreement.
On January 25, the grievant wrote the agency’s chief EEO counselor, stating her belief that the agency had violated the settlement agreement.  She also requested that “we return to the status quo and I am permitted to start the EEO complaint process over in order to resolve my EEO complaint.”  The union filed a grievance protesting the absence of a resolution of the case and the refusal of management to hold a step-one grievance meeting on February 5.  The agency denied the grievance, informing the grievant that because she chose to raise the matter under a statutory procedure by contacting the agency’s chief EEO counselor on January 25, she could not also file a grievance over the matter.
In response to the grievant’s January 25 letter, the agency’s chief EEO counselor informed the grievant that the agency had complied with the terms of the settlement agreement and informed her of her right to appeal the matter to the EEOC.  She then filed an appeal with the EEOC over the alleged breach of the settlement agreement on April 13.
The contractual grievance was submitted to arbitration, where the arbitrator found that the settlement agreement had ended the pre-complaint phase of the statutory EEO complaint process.  He also found that the grievant was not arbitrable because:  (1) the grievant was past the pre-complaint counseling process; (2) the grievant had agreed to pursue relief through the EEO process if she believed that the settlement agreement was violated; (3) the grievant had written to the agency’s chief EEO counselor on January 25 to express her belief that the settlement agreement had been violated; and (4) her appeal was moving through the statutory EEO process.  Accordingly, the arbitrator dismissed the grievance.  [Continued on next page]

The union files exceptions with the Authority alleging that the award is contrary to § 7121(d) of the Statute.  

How should the Authority rule?  

[Based on 57 FLRA 882]

Exercise 7 – Interlocutory Appeals:
Agency A. offers to transfer an employee, Ms. E., from rainy Portland, Oregon to sunny San Diego, California, and then revokes its offer.  Ms. E grieves the Agency’s revocation.  

At the arbitration hearing, attorneys for the grievant and the Agency stipulate three issues for the arbitrator, Arbitrator Smith, to resolve.  The stipulated issues are:  (1) did the agency violate the law; (2) did the agency violate the contract; and (3) if so, what shall be the remedy?  

In an award entitled “final award,” Arbitrator Smith finds that the Agency violated the law and the parties’ agreement when it revoked its offer.  Arbitrator Smith instructs the parties to “discuss and attempt resolution on the remedial issues that exist in light of this finding.”  The Arbitrator retains jurisdiction to resolve any remedial issues that could arise in the event the parties are unable to reach agreement with regard to the appropriate remedy.

The Agency files exceptions, claiming that the award is contrary to law.  The Union counters that the agency’s exceptions are interlocutory.  The Agency denies its exceptions are interlocutory, and argues, further, that even if its exceptions are interlocutory, the Authority should nevertheless consider them, because they raise a plausible jurisdictional defect.  Specifically, the Agency argues, Article III, Section 5 of the parties’ agreement defines a grievance in a way that precludes disputes over claims that the Agency failed to transfer an employee.  

Question 1:  Are the exceptions interlocutory?  

Question 2:  Is there a plausible jurisdictional defect?

[Based on 58 FLRA 356]

Exercise 8 – Interlocutory Appeals:

The super-unique agency (SUA), which is so unique that it is not subject to the Office of Personnel Management’s (OPM) classification standards, signs a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the Union in which the SUA promises to significantly expand its field office in Somewheresville, Massachusetts, from a small grade C facility an expansive grade A facility.  Employees are excited that they will soon be working in a grade A facility, because employees who work in a grade A facility earn 15% more in salary than employees who work in a grade C facility.  Unfortunately for the Somewheresville employees, the SUA realizes just before implementation that it must cancel the planned office expansion.  

Miffed, the employees file a grievance alleging that the SUA violated the MOU by failing to expand the Somewheresville field office.  The SUA counters that the grievance is not arbitrable because it concerns a classification issue within the meaning of § 7121(c)(5) of the Statute.  The parties agree to bifurcate the arbitrability issue and the merits.

In the first award, the arbitrator, Arbitrator Jones, notes that the SUA is not subject to the OPM’s classification standards.  Therefore, Arbitrator Jones concludes, the SUA is not subject to § 7121(c)(5).  Arbitrator Jones orders a hearing on the merits without assessing whether, as a factual matter, the grievance involves classification issue within the meaning of § 7121(c)(5).

Miffed, the SUA files exceptions.  As a courtesy, the SUA shares its legal research with the Union and the Arbitrator.  The research indicates:

(1)  Section 7121(c) states, in pertinent part, that “[t]he preceding subsections of this section shall not apply with respect to any grievance concerning . . . the classification of any position which does not result in the reduction in grade or pay of an employee.”  

(2)  The Authority has construed the term “classification” in § 7121(c)(5) in the context of 5 C.F.R. § 511.101(c), which defines the term as “‘the analysis and identification of a position and placing it in a class under the position-classification plan established by OPM[.]’”  U.S. Dep’t of Veterans Affairs, Med. Ctr., Marion, Ill., 60 FLRA 971, 973 (2005) (Veterans).  

(3)  The Authority has found that “the mere fact that the [a]gency has discretion to establish pay without regard to [C]hapter 51 of [T]itle 5 does not preclude a finding that the grievance and award concern classification within the meaning of § 7121(c)(5).”  U.S. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n, Wash., D.C., 61 FLRA 251, 253 (2005) (SEC)

 (4)  The Authority has described grievances that concern classification under § 7121(c)(5) as involving “the grade level of the duties assigned to, and performed by, the grievant[.]”  AFGE, Local 1858, 59 FLRA 713, 715 (2004).  

(5)  The Authority has not previously found that an arbitration award involved classification under § 7121(c)(5) “merely because the award involves the amount of an employee’s pay.”  U.S. Dep’t of Transp., FAA, 61 FLRA 634, 636 (2006) (FAA).

The SUA asserts that the Authority should consider its admittedly interlocutory exceptions because its exception raises a plausible jurisdictional defect.  In response, the Union asserts that the grievance does not concern a classification matter and that § 7121(c)(5) does not apply to the Agency.  Rather, the Union argues, the Agency “has been removed” from certain provisions of Title 5.  Therefore, the Union claims, the parties are required to negotiate all changes to the personnel management system, regardless of the limitations imposed on them by Chapter 71 of Title 5.  Further, the Union argues, the procedures for adjusting pay, as outlined in the MOU, does not concern a “position” as referenced in § 7121(c)(5).
Question 1:  Does the grievance present a plausible jurisdictional defect, the resolution of which would advance the ultimate disposition of the case?

Question 2:  Does the grievance involve a classification matter under § 7121(c)(5) of the Statute?

[Based on 61 FLRA 634]

Exercises 9-12:  Procedural Requirements
Using the following formula, determine whether the exceptions in the following exercises have been timely filed.    

Date of Service of Award:  _______________ + 30 Days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2, 2429.21 & 2429.22) =

______________  (                        ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then ________________.  

(5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).  If service by mail or commercial delivery, then + 5 days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2 & 2429.22) = __________________ (                       ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then _______________.  (5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).      

Exercise 9:
The Arbitrator serves his award on the parties by an e-mail transmitted to the parties on November 1, 2010.  The Union files exceptions on December 2, 2010.  Are the Union’s exceptions timely filed? 
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11 = holiday
Date of Service of Award:  _______________ + 30 Days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2, 2429.21 & 2429.22) =

______________  (                        ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then ________________.  

(5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).  If service by mail or commercial delivery, then + 5 days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2 & 2429.22) = __________________ (                       ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then _______________.  (5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).      

Exercise 10:
The Arbitrator serves his award on the parties by U.S. mail on October 12, 2010.  The Union files exceptions on November 16, 2010.  Are the Union’s exceptions timely filed?
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11 = holiday
Date of Service of Award:  _______________ + 30 Days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2, 2429.21 & 2429.22) =

______________  (                        ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then ________________.  

(5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).  If service by mail or commercial delivery, then + 5 days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2 & 2429.22) = __________________ (                       ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then _______________.  (5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).      

Exercise 11:
The Arbitrator serves his award by an e-mail transmitted to the parties on October 12, 2010.  The Union files exceptions on November 10, 2010.  Are the Union’s exceptions are timely filed?
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11 = holiday
Date of Service of Award:  _______________ + 30 Days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2, 2429.21 & 2429.22) =

______________  (                        ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then ________________.  

(5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).  If service by mail or commercial delivery, then + 5 days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2 & 2429.22) = __________________ (                       ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then _______________.  (5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).      

Exercise 12:
The Arbitrator serves his award on the parties by U.S. mail on November 19, 2010.  The Union files exceptions on December 28, 2010.  Are the Union’s exceptions timely filed?  
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11 = holiday
Date of Service of Award:  _______________ + 30 Days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2, 2429.21 & 2429.22) =

______________  (                        ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then ________________.  

(5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).  If service by mail or commercial delivery, then + 5 days (5 C.F.R. §§ 2425.2 & 2429.22) = __________________ (                       ).  But, if weekend or holiday, then _______________.  (5 C.F.R. § 2429.21(a)).      

Exercise 13 - Exceeded Authority:

The grievant was suspended for 5 days for inappropriate behavior and for failure to follow her supervisor’s instructions.  The Union filed a grievance, which went to arbitration.

Before the Arbitrator, the parties stipulated the issues, in pertinent part, as whether the 5-day suspension for the grievant’s inappropriate behavior and failure to follow supervisory instruction was for the efficiency of the service. The Arbitrator found that the Agency failed to support either charge, and she directed that the suspension be removed from Agency records and that the grievant receive backpay.  In addition, she noted that the grievant had been removed from certain duties.  Without stating that the removal from the disputed duties had any relationship to the suspension, the Arbitrator directed that the Agency reinstate those duties. 

The Agency files an exception alleging that the Arbitrator exceeded her authority by directing the Agency to reinstate the disputed duties.

How should the Authority rule on the exceeded-authority exception?

[Based on 64 FLRA 612]

Exercise 14 - Exceeded Authority:

The Arbitrator resolved a grievance alleging that the Agency violated the law and the parties’ agreement in various ways.  The Arbitrator determined that the Agency did not commit the alleged violations.  Nevertheless, the Arbitrator directed the Agency to take various actions.

The Agency files an exception alleging that the Arbitrator exceeded his authority by directing the Agency to take various actions.

How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s exceeded-authority exception?

[Based on 63 FLRA 195]

Exercise 15 - Exceeded Authority:

The Arbitrator found that the Agency violated the parties’ CBA when it discontinued dues withholding for a group of employees in the Agency’s New York District during the years 2004 and 2005.  To remedy the violation, the Arbitrator directed the Agency to provide the Union with a list of all bargaining-unit employees as well as all non-supervisory, non-bargaining-unit employees in the Agency’s New York District during the 2004 and 2005, indicating those who are or were members of the Union’s bargaining unit and the dates of any changes in their bargaining-unit status.  The Arbitrator also directed the Agency to issue to each member of the bargaining unit a statement indicating the amount of dues withheld during the years 2004 and 2005.

The Agency files exceptions alleging that the Arbitrator exceeded his authority by directing the Agency to:  (1) provide the Union with a list of employees; and (2) provide all bargaining-unit employees a dues-withholding statement.  With regard to the direction to provide a list of employees, the Agency asserts that the Arbitrator resolved an issue not submitted to arbitration.  With regard to the direction to provide all bargaining-unit employees a statement indicating the amount of dues withheld, the Agency argues that the Arbitrator extended a remedy to employees not encompassed by the grievance.

How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s exceeded-authority exceptions? 

[Based on 62 FLRA 59]

Exercise 16 – Bias:

Two employees filed complaints regarding a co-worker’s (the grievant’s) behavior.  One employee said that he was concerned regarding the grievant’s “escalating verbal aggression and personal attacks” against department board members, especially the department supervisor.  The other employee said, among other things, that she had received numerous calls from the grievant at home regarding “Sunday coverage issues,” that she had not given him her home phone number, and that she did not want to be called at home unless it was during an emergency.  She also said that, at a staff meeting, the grievant called the department supervisor a liar.  In addition, the department supervisor noted several other incidents of alleged misconduct, including the use of profanity when not acting in a Union capacity and being disrespectful to fellow employees and supervisors.  

As a result of those incidents, the grievant was suspended.  The Union filed a grievance over the suspension, which went to arbitration.

The Arbitrator found that the Agency violated the parties’ agreement.  As to remedy, the Arbitrator stated that, although “progressive discipline is appropriate in most disciplinary actions,” the grievant’s conduct was “so outrageous that some form of disciplinary action was required.”  In making this determination, the Arbitrator noted that the grievant was “very negative and confrontational”; that the grievant “acted as if he was always in a Union capacity when he was not always and vented his employee frustrations under the guise of protected language”; that the confrontational incidents “involved the use of profanity and insulting language” and had a “deleterious effect” on the work environment; that the grievant’s “verbal outbursts were designed and not impulsive” and “occurred in non-private setting in front of other employees and patients”; and that the “grievant knew his conduct was inappropriate, but since he was getting away with it, he continued doing it.”  The Arbitrator nevertheless reduced the suspension.

The Union files an exception alleging that the Arbitrator was biased.  In this connection, the Union alleges that, despite finding that the Agency violated the agreement, the Arbitrator “shifted all the blame to the employee,” and that the Arbitrator’s bias was evidenced by his statement that the grievant “knew his conduct was inappropriate but since he was getting away with it, he continued doing it.”

How should the Authority rule on the bias exception?

[Based on 64 FLRA 713]

Exercise 17 - Fair Hearing:
The Agency suspended the grievant for, among other things, “knowingly making incorrect entries on employee attendance logs.”  In determining that the grievant falsified her time and attendance logs, the Agency considered the grievant’s key card entry readings from the building entrance logs, information from the grievant’s supervisors, and the grievant’s own time and attendance logs.  

The Union filed a grievance, which was submitted to arbitration.  During the hearing, the Arbitrator denied the Union’s request to submit evidence regarding the grievant’s supervisor’s time-card discrepancies.  In this regard, the Arbitrator found that those records were irrelevant to determining whether there was just cause to suspend the grievant regarding her time and attendance inaccuracies.  In addition, the Arbitrator credited the testimony of Agency witnesses over the grievant’s testimony.  The Arbitrator found that the suspension was for just cause and denied the grievance.

The Union files exceptions, alleging that the Arbitrator denied the Union a fair hearing by denying the Union’s request to submit evidence regarding the supervisor’s time-card discrepancies, and by crediting the testimony of the Agency’s witnesses over the grievant’s testimony.

How should the Authority rule on the Union’s fair-hearing exception? 

[Based on 63 FLRA 227]

Exercise 18 – Essence:

The Arbitrator sustained a grievance alleging that the grievant was wrongfully removed from her job.  The Union filed a motion with the Arbitrator requesting, among other things, “costs.”  The Arbitrator directed the Agency to pay, among other things, all of the costs of the arbitration, in an amount of $948.

The parties’ CBA provides that the costs of arbitration “shall be borne equally by the parties.”  The Agency files exceptions to the Arbitrator’s award, alleging that the award fails to draw its essence from this CBA provision.  

How should the Authority rule?

[Based on 59 FLRA 540]

Exercise 19 -  Essence and Nonfact:

The grievant received a non-disciplinary letter of counseling for “sick leave abuse.”  Subsequently, he was issued a memorandum requiring him to provide medical documentation for future absences for which he claimed sick leave because, since the prior notification, he had used an additional 24 hours of sick leave.  The memorandum required the grievant to provide medical evidence for any absence of 1 hour or more no later than 3 days after the absence.  The memorandum stated that such evidence “must contain specific reasons for the grievant’s incapacitation for his position,” and that, to be administratively acceptable, such evidence “must clearly indicate how, at a minimum,” the grievant “was physically unable to perform the essential function” of his position.

Subsequently, the grievant was absent due to illness and did not provide acceptable medical certification within 3 work days to substantiate this absence, as he had been instructed to do.  Approximately 12 days after this absence, the grievant provided the Agency with a handwritten note from his doctor saying, “Excused from work for Saturday and Sunday due to illness.”

The grievant was suspended for failing to submit acceptable medical evidence for this absence.  The Union grieved, and it went to arbitration.

Before the Arbitrator, the parties disputed whether the doctor’s note met the requirement in the memorandum that the note explain why the grievant was physically unable to perform his job due to illness.  The Arbitrator found that the note did not meet this requirement, and he found just cause for the suspension, to the extent that it was based on failure to provide an adequate medical note.

The Union files exceptions with the Authority.  First, the Union alleges that the award is based on a nonfact, specifically the Arbitrator’s finding that the note did not explain why the grievant was unable to perform his job due to illness.  Second, the Union alleges that the award fails to draw its essence from the parties’ agreement, which provides that “employees will not be required to reveal the nature of the illness as a condition for approval of sick leave.”

How should the Authority rule on the Union’s nonfact and essence exceptions?

[Based on 64 FLRA 1163]

Exercise 20 – Nonfact:

The grievant, a GS-9 Training Instructor, performed the duties of a GS-11 Training Development Specialist (TDS) from December 13, 2004 through October 31, 2007.  The Agency did not pay the grievant the higher salary of a TDS because the grievant needed to complete certain coursework in order to be qualified to receive a temporary promotion.

On October 3, 2006, the grievant completed the necessary coursework.  Subsequently, an Agency official notified the grievant that he had completed the necessary coursework, but then another Agency official informed the grievant that the Agency had modified the TDS coursework requirements and that the grievant still needed to complete certain coursework in order to be qualified for a temporary promotion to TDS.

The Union filed a grievance alleging that the Agency violated the CBA by failing to temporarily promote the grievant.  

The Arbitrator found that, under the CBA, an employee cannot be temporarily promoted if the employee is not fully qualified for a promotion.  The Arbitrator found that the grievant was not fully qualified because he did not meet the course work requirement.  He thus rejected the Union’s claim that the grievant was performing a temporary promotion under the CBA, and he denied the Union’s request for backpay for the grievant.

The Union files exceptions alleging that the Arbitrator’s award is based on a nonfact that the grievant was not qualified for a temporary promotion.  In this connection, the Union asserts that on October 3, 2006, the grievant became qualified for a temporary promotion.

The Agency files an opposition, conceding that the grievant was qualified for a temporary promotion as of October 3, 2006, but arguing that it still would not have temporarily promoted the grievant because the grievant had failed to timely notify the Agency that he had become qualified and because the CBA requires only that a qualified employee “normally” – not always – will be temporarily promoted.

How should the Authority rule on the Union’s exceptions?  

[Based on 64 FLRA 672]

Exercise 21 - Incomplete, Ambiguous, Contradictory:

The grievant filed a grievance disputing her overall performance rating of “Fair.”  The grievance went to arbitration, and the Arbitrator found that the grievant was not rated fairly and accurately and that, compared to how the Agency treated another employee, the grievant was not “treated equitably and in accordance with the terms of the collective bargaining agreement.”  He directed the Agency to expunge the grievant’s overall rating of “Fair” and replace it with a rating of “Successful.”  He did not specify what provision of the CBA was violated.

The Agency files exceptions, alleging that the award is incomplete, ambiguous, or contradictory because the Arbitrator did not specify which provision of the CBA was violated.

How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s exceptions?

[Based on 63 FLRA 161]

Exercise 22 – Public Policy:

The grievant, an air-traffic controller, had an argument with another employee (the other employee) while on duty.  As the grievant subsequently spoke with the controller in charge (CIC), the other employee was laughing loudly, gesturing as if she were sounding a train whistle, and making loud noises of “hoot, hoot.”  The grievant became angry, complained to the CIC, and asked to be relieved.  The requested relief was not granted, and the other employee continued her gestures and hooting.  As this was occurring, the grievant, who was required to answer calls from aircraft, did not answer a total of 9 calls from 4 different aircraft in non-movement areas – i.e., aircraft that may move without permission, but that usually do call as a matter of courtesy – including one aircraft that had recently de-iced, although he answered a call from that particular aircraft less than a minute later.

The grievant was suspended for 3 days for 3 charges, including “Inattention to Duty.”  A grievance was filed, which went to arbitration.

The Arbitrator found that the other employee’s loud and disruptive noises and laughter had put the grievant in “a bind” because, if he had turned on his microphone, the noise may have “generated pilot concern” that the controllers were not seriously attending to their duties.  The Arbitrator also found that the grievant answered each call within less than a minute from the first call, and that although one flight “pushed back” when it received no response, it was still within the non-movement area when the grievant responded.  The Arbitrator found that, on those facts, although the grievant’s work performance deteriorated temporarily as a result of the noise and distraction, he did not commit “inattention to duty.”  Accordingly, he set aside that charge.

The Agency files exceptions, alleging that the award “ignores the public policy requiring hyper-vigilance by air traffic controllers.”  For support, the Agency cites an Agency regulation stating that controllers must maintain “situational awareness” at all times, and claims that “with aircraft moving at the speeds they travel in the congested airspace in which they now move, even a few seconds’ inattention by a controller can result in the death of hundreds, possibly thousands, of persons.”

How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s public-policy exception?

[Based on 64 FLRA 680]

Exercise 23 – Arbitrability

The grievant was employed as a licensed practical nurse.  From 2001-2003 and again in 2006, the agency assigned the grievant to an acting Clinical Coordinator position.
The union filed grievances alleging that the agency violated the parties’ CBA by:  (1) temporarily promoting the grievant without proper compensation; (2) not filling the temporary promotion through competitive procedures; (3) bypassing the union by not notifying it of the grievant’s temporary promotion; and (4) preselecting the grievant for the Clinical Coordinator position.

The grievances went to arbitration.  The arbitrator found that the grievance was untimely filed with respect to the alleged CBA contract violations between 2001 and 2003.  Specifically, the arbitrator determined that the actions were not of a continuing nature and that the union did not file the grievance “within 30 days of the date the employee or union became aware of or should have become aware of the act or occurrence,” as required by the CBA.  The arbitrator also found that the agency did not violate the CBA with regard to the incidents in 2006.

The union files an exception alleging that the arbitrator erred in finding that the grievance was untimely in part.  In this connection, the union argues that the agency’s actions are “of a continuing nature” within the meaning of the CBA, and that the union filed a grievance when it learned of the violations.

Question 1:  What type of arbitrability determination did the arbitrator make?

Question 2:  How should the Authority rule on the union’s exception?

[Based on 65 FLRA 9]
Exercise 24 – Arbitrability:
The grievant, employed on a temporary appointment pursuant to the agency’s Student Temporary Employment Program, was terminated by the agency for absence without leave and failure to maintain regular attendance.  The union filed a grievance that went to arbitration.
The arbitrator addressed whether the grievance was arbitrable.  The arbitrator found that Article 43 of the parties’ CBA excluded “termination of an employee on a temporary appointment” from the negotiated grievance procedure, and that the record established that the grievant was an employee on a temporary promotion.  In this regard, the arbitrator found that, as the grievant’s appointment was limited to one year, the grievant fell within the exclusion set forth in Article 43 of the CBA.

In addition, the arbitrator rejected the union’s claim that the grievance was proper under Article 45 because the grievant had been employed for three years.  The arbitrator found that Article 45 of the CBA, which specified that employees who may appeal adverse and disciplinary actions, applies to “individuals who have completed two (2) years of current continuous service in the same or similar positions in an Executive agency under other than temporary appointment limited to two (2) years or less.”  The arbitrator found that because the grievant was employed under a temporary appointment that was limited to two years or less, Article 45 did not apply.

The union files exceptions with the Authority, challenging the arbitrator’s finding that the grievance was not arbitrable.

Question 1:  What type of arbitrability finding did the arbitrator make?

Question 2:  Under what standard will the Authority review the exception, and why?

Question 3:  How should the Authority rule?

[Based on 61 FLRA 456]

Exercise 25 – Management Rights:
The parties have an agreement providing that the agency will provide “top contributors” with awards that equal an additional 3% increase in basic pay, and that these awards will be distributed in a fair and equitable manner.  
When the agency denied an employee such an award, a grievance was filed alleging that the award violated the parties’ agreement.

The arbitrator sustained the grievance, finding that the grievant had not been accorded fair and equitable treatment because he was denied an award solely on the basis that he was part of a team that had failed to meet team goals.  

The agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award is contrary to management’s rights to direct employees and assign work.

How should the Authority rule on the exceptions?

[Based on 64 FLRA 79]

Exercise 26 – Management Rights:

An employee was found qualified for a position, but was not selected.  A grievance was filed alleging that the non-selection was motivated by the grievant’s whistleblowing.  The grievance went to arbitration, where the arbitrator found that the agency violated CBA provisions that provide:

In an atmosphere of mutual respect, all employees shall be treated fairly and equitably and without discrimination in regard to their political affiliation, Union activity, race, color, religion, national origin, gender, sexual orientation, marital status, age, or nondisqualifying handicapping conditions.

Employees shall be protected against reprisal of any nature for the disclosure of information not prohibited by law or Executive Order which the employee reasonably believes evidences a violation of law, rule, or regulation, or evidences mis-management, a waste of funds, and abuse of authority, or danger to public or employee health or safety.

The arbitrator found that “the rejection of the employee” for the position “was discriminatory, unfair, inequitable, and contrary to provisions of” the CBA cited above.  Accordingly, he directed the agency to promote the employee retroactively and to make him whole.

The agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award violates management’s right to select employees.  In this regard, the agency asserts that the arbitrator did not cite any law that the agency violated, and that absent a violation of law, the arbitrator was not permitted to set aside the agency’s decision not to select the employee.

How should the Authority rule on the exceptions?
[Based on 56 FLRA 647]

Exercise 27 – Management Rights:

The parties negotiated a program that allows employees from agency headquarters to be detailed to work temporarily in field offices selected by management.  The agency issued a memorandum listing the field offices in which details would be allowed and soliciting applications.  When the agency denied four employees’ requests for details to field offices that were not included in the memorandum, the union filed a grievance that went to arbitration.

The arbitrator found that, under the parties’ negotiated program, the agency was not permitted to consider cost when deciding which field offices are available for employee details.  Rather, the arbitrator found that the agency was permitted to consider only staffing, workload, and the presence of adequate supervision in the field offices.  The arbitrator also found that the agency had considered costs and, thus, violated the agreement.  He directed the agency to:  issue a new solicitation for the next fiscal year, listing the available field offices based on the non-cost criteria set forth in the negotiated program; comply with contractual procedures in the future; and grant the four employees details to the offices that they originally requested.

The agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award is contrary to management’s rights to assign employees and assign work.  Specifically, the agency contends that the award prohibits management from considering any factors other than staffing, workload, and adequacy of supervision in determining which field offices are available for details.  In addition, the agency asserts that the negotiated agreement was not, as interpreted and applied by the arbitrator, an agreement negotiated under § 7106(b) of the Statute.

The union files an opposition alleging that the award does not affect management’s rights because it addresses only where work will be performed, not what work was to be performed, the length of details, or the qualifications needed to perform the work.  The union asserts that the agency has not argued that detailed employees will be performing duties other than those substantially similar to their regular duties, and has not claimed that a relationship exists between their job location and job duties.  Further, the union asserts that, to the extent the award affects a management right, the arbitrator was enforcing a provision negotiated under either § 7106(b)(2) or (b)(3).

How should the Authority rule on the exceptions?    

[Based on 60 FLRA 576]

Exercise 28 – Management Rights:
The agency proposed to implement a demonstration project involving the use of new pilot information technology, which allows access to certain information.  This information can be transmitted to radar screens and used by unit employees, who are air traffic controllers, to maintain the separation of aircraft.  This is not the only method available to unit employees for use in maintaining separation of aircraft; they also use non-radar separation procedures and radar separation procedures, which employ a different type of technology.

The parties negotiated an MOU covering the implementation of the project.  The MOU referenced specific issues that arose during the pilot testing of the project and, subsequent to its implementation, unit employees identified several problems associated with using the new technology on radar screeners.

After an incident occurred involving a failure of aircraft to maintain proper separation, allegedly because of the use of the new technology in conjunction with the radar screens, the union notified management of problems in the use of that technology and invoked a provision of the MOU that allowed the termination of its use for aircraft and surveillance and separation purposes because of safety concerns.  The agency argued that the use of the technology had not compromised safety, and decided to continue to displaying the data on radar screens. 
The union filed a grievance alleging that the agency’s failure to terminate the use of the new technology for the purpose of aircraft surveillance and separation violated the MOU.  The grievance went to arbitration.

The arbitrator found that the MOU was “designed to set forth the methods, means, and technology of performing the work of the air traffic controller” within the confines of the project.  He noted that the MOU had not been disapproved on agency-head review and that it was enforceable.

The arbitrator rejected the agency’s claim that the MOU impermissibly affected management’s right to assign work.  Noting that the precedent cited by the agency concerned the negotiability of proposals, the arbitrator found that “it is not a proposal that is before the arbitrator but rather a negotiated agreement.”  The arbitrator found that the agreement was binding, and that the agency violated it by failing to terminate the use of the new technology when the union made a determination that there was a safety or operational impact.  As a remedy, the arbitrator directed the agency to bargain over the operational and/or safety impacts of the project.  If such bargaining did not “result in a resolution to the operational and/or safety impacts associated with the technology,” the arbitrator directed the agency to “abide by the terms of the MOU and terminate the use of” the new technology.

The agency files exceptions alleging that the MOU is unenforceable because, as interpreted and applied by the arbitrator, it is contrary to management’s right to assign work.
How should the Authority rule on the exceptions?

[Based on 62 FLRA 90]

Exercise 29 – Management Rights
The parties’ agreement provides for a national coordinator and local coordinators who process employees' reasonable-accommodation requests. Under the agreement, the national coordinator may not delegate the duty of reviewing medical information to a local coordinator without the affected employee's approval.

The Union files a grievance alleging that the national coordinator violated the agreement by transferring employees’ medical files to local coordinators. The grievance went to arbitration, where the Arbitrator found that the contract provision was enforceable as an “appropriate arrangement.”  The Arbitrator also found that the Agency violated the agreement as alleged, and he directed that the employees' files be returned to the national coordinator for processing.

The Agency files exceptions with the Authority, alleging that the award is contrary to management’s right to assign work because it limits the Agency’s ability to assign medical-review duties to local coordinators.  

How should the Authority rule on the exceptions?

[Based on 65 FLRA 113]

Exercise 30 - Arbitrator Enforcement of Regulations and CBAs:
The Agency assigns non-uniformed staff to posts that are otherwise primarily staffed by employees in the correctional-services department.  The Agency requires correctional service employees to wear uniforms and pays them a uniform allowance.  However, the Agency does not require the non-uniformed staff to wear uniforms when they are assigned to correctional officer posts and does not pay them the uniform allowance.  
The Union filed a grievance, which later went to arbitration, alleging that the Agency was using non-correctional staff to work correctional services positions and refused to provide those staff a uniform allowance to enable them to wear uniforms while working at posts requiring the wearing of a uniform.  The Union alleged that this violated both the parties’ agreement and an Agency regulation. 

The Agency regulation provides that “all employees performing [correctional services] duties are required to wear the approved uniform while performing official duties.”  The CBA provides that “the Employer will pay an allowance each year to each employee who is required by policy to wear a uniform in the performance of their official duties.”

The Arbitrator found that the Agency regulation was incorporated into the parties’ CBA.  She also found that the parties’ intended the CBA to not require payment of a uniform allowance to employees in non-uniformed positions who are assigned to correctional officer posts.  Accordingly, she denied the grievance.

The Union files an exception alleging that the Arbitrator’s award is contrary to the Agency regulation.
How should the Authority rule on the Union’s exception?

[Based on 59 FLRA 381]
Exercise 31 - Arbitrator Enforcement of Regulations and CBAs:
The grievants are licensed engineers assigned to sail on a vessel that, prior to 1995, was classified and operated as an Underway Replenishment (unrep) oiler, which is a vessel that provides replenishment supplies, such as fuel, ammunition, and food to Navy combat vessels while underway at sea.  Since 1995, the ship has been operated as a point-to-point tanker – a vessel that provides supplies to other vessels from stationary, as opposed to underway, locations -- although it retains the design features of an unrep oiler.  The Agency pays licensed engineers assigned to unrep oilers a special fleet support pay differential, which it does not pay the grievants when they do not perform unrep duties.
The Union filed a grievance alleging that the grievants were entitled to be paid at a comparative rate to licensed engineers assigned to unrep oilers and that the grievants’ pay rate was improperly based on the mission of the vessel rather than the vessel classification, which is based on gross tonnage and horsepower.  The grievance went to arbitration.

The Arbitrator found that an Agency regulation required the grievants’ pay be based on the classification of the vessel and that the Agency’s action violated the Agency regulation.  The Agency regulation provides that “compensation of officers and crews of vessels shall be fixed and adjusted from time to time, as nearly as consistent with the public interest, in accordance with prevailing rates and practices in the maritime industry.”  It also provides that “prevailing rates and practices” are determined by:  (1) “administrative practices” used by commercial companies; (2) “agreements and contracts between commercial maritime companies and maritime labor unions”; and (3) “current maritime positions,” with the qualification that “specific commercial industry rates and practices are not always directly applicable to Agency marine positions.”

The Agency files an exception alleging that the award is contrary to the Agency regulations.
How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s exception?

[Based on 58 FLRA 558]
Exercise 32 - Arbitrator Enforcement of Regulations and CBAs:
The union represents employees who work in heating plants.  Prior to June 2010, the employees worked a shift of 7 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., Monday through Friday.  In June 2010, the agency established a new weekend shift for some of the employees of Wednesday through Sunday, 7 a.m. to 3:30 p.m.  The agency explained that the new shift was established to have employees available to perform repair work and were authorized Instruction 550.11, the agency regulation on hours of work, which requires management to schedule workweeks to meet actual work requirements.

The union filed a grievance contending that the new shift violated Article 10 of the collective bargaining agreement, which provides that the basic workweek will normally be Monday through Friday, but that work schedules may be changed to accommodate unanticipated changes in work requirements or availability of personnel.  The agency alleged that the new shift was authorized by Instruction 550.11.

The arbitrator sustained the grievance concluding that the agency violated Article 10.  He ruled that management could not change the basic workweek except for the reasons specified in the agreement.  He found that the agency changed the basic workweek to increase efficiency, which is not a reason for change authorized by the agreement.

The agency has filed exceptions to the award contending that the award is deficient because it conflicts with Instruction 550.11.  The agency argues that Instruction 550.11 allows the change and that Instruction 550.11 controls because it was issued after the collective bargaining agreement and superseded the provisions of Article 10.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 42 FLRA 121]     

Exercise 33 - Remedies in Arbitration & the Back Pay Act:

The parties discovered mold in some of the Agency’s facilities.  The Agency engaged in various remediation efforts.  In addition, the Union, which has an office in one of the Agency’s facilities, paid to have its office cleaned.

Grievances were filed alleging, among other things, that the Agency violated the parties’ CBA and applicable laws, rules, and regulations by failing to make every reasonable effort to provide and maintain safe and healthful working conditions in the Agency’s facilities, including the Union’s office.  The Arbitrator found that the Agency violated the CBA and directed the Agency to reimburse the Union’s expenses for having its office cleaned.

The Agency files exceptions, alleging that the direction to reimburse the Union is contrary to sovereign immunity.  The Union files an opposition saying that the award of reimbursement is permissible under the Back Pay Act.

How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s exception? 

[Based on 64 FLRA 325]

Exercise 34 - Remedies in Arbitration and the Back Pay Act:

While working as a radar-controller, the grievant directed two aircraft separated by fewer than five feet onto a collision course.  An automated system directed the aircraft to take immediate evasive action, thus avoiding a collision.  Following the incident, the Agency decertified the grievant from his position and ordered him to undergo remedial training.  The Union filed a grievance (the decertification grievance) seeking expungement of the decertification and make-whole relief or “any other remedy deemed appropriate.”  Several months later, the Union filed a second grievance (the pay-incentive grievance) seeking backpay and make-whole relief for the grievant’s loss of consideration for an Operational Success Increase (OSI) or Superior Success Increase (SCI).  

The grievance went to arbitration.  The Arbitrator found that the Agency violated its own regulations by decertifying the grievant without any prior history of performance problems.  Given that unblemished record, the Arbitrator determined that, but for his improper decertification, the grievant would have received an OSI or SCI.  The Arbitrator directed the Agency, among other things, to award the grievant the OSI/SCI that he would have received but for his improper decertification, with interest.

The Agency files exceptions alleging that the award of an OSI/SCI is contrary to the Back Pay Act because the grievant was not automatically entitled to an OSI or SCI, and likely would not have received one due to his documented error.

How should the Authority rule on the Agency’s exceptions?

[Based on 64 FLRA 922]

Exercise 35 - Remedies in Arbitration and the Back Pay Act:

The grievant, an aeronautical engineer, was assigned to travel to and investigate an airplane crash in a rural area of Texas.  The grievant requested hazardous duty pay for this assignment.  His supervisor did not believe that the grievant had been exposed to a dangerous or hazardous area, and denied the grievant’s request.  The Union filed a grievance that went to arbitration.

The Arbitrator determined that the grievant was entitled to hazardous duty pay and awarded backpay.  However, the Arbitrator declined to award the grievant interest, stating that, with no explanation, the matter had “lingered, without any action on the part of the Union to move it to hearing, for almost five years, without being brought to arbitration.”

The Union files an exception alleging that the failure to award interest is contrary to the Back Pay Act.

How should the Authority rule on the Union’s exception?

[Based on 64 FLRA 906]

Exercise 36 - Remedies in Arbitration and the Back Pay Act:

The Arbitrator found that the Agency violated the parties’ CBA by using a seniority-based procedure, rather than the overtime roster, to select employees for temporary duty assignments.  The Arbitrator found that “there is no certain way to know which employees would have received overtime payments” had the Agency utilized the overtime roster, and he directed the Agency to:  determine the value of all overtime paid to employees who worked overtime; divide that amount among employees deemed eligible from the overtime roster; and provide backpay accordingly.

The Agency files an exception alleging that the award of backpay is contrary to the Back Pay Act.  

How should the Authority resolve the Agency’s exception? 

[Based on 64 FLRA 775]

Exercise 37 – Remedies in Arbitration and the Back Pay Act:

The grievant was one of eight employees who applied for a promotion to medical technician.  There were six vacancies to be filed, and the grievant was ranked seventh on the best-qualified list.  The agency selected the top six candidates for promotion, and the grievant filed a grievance over her nonselection.

The arbitrator noted that the grievant had received the lowest rating under the evaluation factor on the use of leave and that this evaluation factor had not been used in promotion actions before or since the promotion action in dispute.  He found that the use of the factor was unfair and violated the collective bargaining agreement.  Accordingly, he ordered the grievant retroactively promoted with backpay.

The agency has filed exceptions contending that the award is contrary to the Back Pay Act.  How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 41 FLRA 514]

Exercise 38 – Remedies in Arbitration and the Back Pay Act:

The boiler plant at the agency’s facilities operates 24 hours a day and is staffed by a foreman who works the day shift and five boiler plant operators who rotate through three shifts.  Because of the rotational shifts, at times, the assigned day-shift operator may be unavailable to work.  At those times, the foreman served as the plant operator on the shift at straight-time pay.  The union filed a grievance alleging that the practice violated the collective bargaining agreement and sought backpay as a remedy for the affected operators.  During the processing of the grievance, the agency’s answer at step 3 of the grievance procedure was untimely.  The agreement provides that, when the agency fails to timely respond at step 3, the grievance shall be resolved in favor of the grievant and the requested remedy granted, if legal.

The arbitrator found that the grievance should be resolved in favor of the grievant if the requested remedy is legal.  He concluded that the backpay remedy was legal and awarded the grievants backpay with the agency ordered to determine the amount of overtime each grievant had lost as a result of the agency assigning boiler-plant duties to the foreman.

The agency has filed exceptions contending that the award is contrary to the Back Pay Act.  How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 51 FLRA 762]

Exercise 39 – Attorney Fees:
In an earlier arbitration award, an arbitrator found that the agency was required to pay employees interest on reimbursement payments unreasonably delayed.  The union filed a grievance on behalf of seventeen employees who disputed the agency’s interest computations.

The arbitrator ruled that, contrary to the dates used by the agency, the required interest payments accrued on the date that the employees reasonably should have been reimbursed.  However, as to sixteen of the grievants, he was unable to determine that date and remanded the grievance to the parties.  The arbitrator was able to determine the amount of interest due one employee and ordered the agency to pay that grievant 14 days of interest.  In addition, he awarded attorney fees of approximately $25,000.

The agency has filed exceptions to the award contending that the award is deficient because the union is not a prevailing party.  The agency claims that the union cannot be considered to have prevailed as it failed to obtain a significant part of the relief that it sought because only one employee received an award of interest.  The agency further claims that the union did not prevail because the interest award was for a nominal amount, which is far exceeded by the amount of attorney fees awarded.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 54 FLRA 773]
Exercise 40 - Attorney Fees:
The grievant was suspended for 3 days for failing to appear for a drug test.  She filed a grievance over the suspension that the agency denied.  She served her suspension, and the union invoked arbitration on her grievance.  In preparation for the arbitration hearing, the agency discovered that, as a result of an administrative error, the grievant’s pay had not been withheld for purposes of the suspension and informed the grievant and the union.  At the same time, the agency determined not to proceed to arbitration and rescinded the grievant’s suspension.  In view of these developments, the agency requested that the union withdraw the grievance.  The union refused and proceeded to arbitration on the issue of whether the grievant was entitled to attorney fees under the Back Pay Act (BPA).

The arbitrator concluded that the agency’s administrative error in failing to withhold the grievant’s pay should not operate to deny the grievant the attorney fees she incurred in filing and processing the grievance.  In concluding that all of the requirements of the BPA for an award of attorney fees were satisfied, the arbitrator rejected the agency’s argument that the grievant was not a prevailing party.  He ruled that she was a prevailing party under the catalyst theory because the rescission of the suspension was a result of the grievant filing the grievance.  Accordingly, the arbitrator awarded the grievant attorney fees.

The agency has filed exceptions to the award contending that the award is contrary to the BPA because the award of fees was not in conjunction with an award of backpay on correction of an unjustified or unwarranted personnel action and because the grievant was not a prevailing party.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 59 FLRA 129]
Exercise 41 - Attorney Fees:
In his initial award, the arbitrator reversed the grievant’s suspension and awarded her backpay.  Thereafter, the union filed a motion for an award of attorney fees on behalf of the grievant.  The union requested fees for 210 hours of work by the union’s field representative, a professionally trained paralegal, and 10 hours of work by the union’s national counsel.  In opposition, the agency claimed that fees were not incurred by the grievant.  The agency argued that there was no attorney-client relationship between the grievant and the union’s national counsel because the field representative handled all aspects of the grievance, including the arbitration hearing.  The agency further argued that the field representative was not entitled to fees because he is not an attorney.  The arbitrator rejected the agency arguments.

The arbitrator ruled that there was an attorney-client relationship between the grievant and the national counsel because the counsel was responsible for directing and overseeing all aspects of the case.  He further ruled that attorney fees were awardable for the services of the field representative because he had been directly supervised by the national counsel.  Finding that all of the other statutory requirements were met, he awarded fees in the amount requested.

The agency has filed exceptions to the award contending that the award is deficient because the grievant did not incur the fees awarded by the arbitrator.  The agency argues that the grievant did not incur the fees for the national counsel because there was no attorney‑client relationship.   The agency claims that there is no evidence that the grievant ever consulted the national counsel for legal advice and that the field representative held himself out as the grievant’s sole representative, not a paralegal working with the national counsel.  The agency also claims that the services of the field representative do not qualify as paralegal services because they were not ancillary to legal services principally performed by an attorney.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 53 FLRA 1657]
Exercise 42 - Attorney Fees:
The grievant, a GS-6, filed a grievance claiming that she was entitled to have been temporarily promoted when she performed the duties of a GS-7 during a detail.  The arbitrator sustained the grievance.  He found that an earlier settlement agreement on a group of similar grievances applied to this grievance and that, under the settlement agreement, the agency should have considered the grievant’s description of the duties that she performed during the detail, which it did not do.  He also applied FLRA case precedent from the settlement agreement in rejecting the agency’s claim that the grievant was not entitled to a promotion because there was no GS-7 position in the grievant’s office.  He further credited the grievant’s testimony describing the duties she had performed because he found the testimony of the grievant’s supervisor contradictory.

Thereafter, the arbitrator denied the union’s request for an award of attorney fees on behalf of the grievant.  In addressing whether an award of fees would be warranted in the interest of justice, the arbitrator concluded that Allen criterion 5 was not satisfied because the agency did not know, and should not have known, that it would not prevail on the merits when it denied the grievant a promotion.  In so concluding, the arbitrator found that the agency could not have known that he would:  (1) apply the earlier settlement agreement; (2) rely on case precedent reference in the settlement agreement; and (3) rely exclusively on the grievant’s testimony as to the duties she had performed.

The union has filed exceptions to the award contending that Allen criterion 5 is satisfied because the agency’s actions in investigating and preparing its case were negligent.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 54 FLRA 250]
Exercise 43 - Attorney Fees:
The grievant filed a grievance alleging that she performed the duties of a GS-5 secretary position while assigned to a GS-4 clerk-typist position.  The arbitrator sustained the grievance and awarded the grievant a retroactive temporary promotion.  He found that the evidence supported the grievant’s claim that she had performed higher-graded duties.  He noted that the labor relations specialist handling the grievance for the agency was not aware that the grievant performed the same duties both before and after she was subsequently permanently promoted to GS-5 secretary.  He also found that the specialist was unaware that the grievant’s supervisor would testify that the grievant had performed GS-5 duties and that the specialist relied on the erroneous advice of the personnel department that the grievant could not be performing GS-5 duties because she was not assisting the head of the office.  Finally, the arbitrator found that the agency had erroneously relied on another award of the arbitrator where he had concluded that the grievance was not arbitrable because it concerned a classification matter.

Thereafter, the arbitrator denied the union’s request for an award of attorney fees on behalf of the grievant.  In concluding that an award of fees was not warranted in the interest of justice under Allen criterion 5, the arbitrator explained that the agency’s representative was boxed in by the absence of facts in significant areas, fuzzy information, improper assumptions, erroneous advice by the personnel department, and excessive reliance on the earlier arbitration award.  He found that, from the representative’s frame of reference, she strongly believed that the grievance was not arbitrable and that the agency would prevail at arbitration.

The union has filed exceptions to the award contending that Allen criterion 5 was satisfied.  The union argues that, notwithstanding the arbitrator’s view of what the agency’s representative believed would be the outcome, the arbitrator found numerous errors in the agency’s preparation of its case for arbitration.  The union asserts that these errors compel the conclusion that the agency knew, or should have known, that it would not prevail on the merits when it denied the grievant a temporary promotion.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 34 FLRA 823]
Exercise 44 - Attorney Fees:
The agency suspended the grievant for 3 days for making negative statements to patients about the medical staff and ordered her to refrain from such conduct in the future.  The grievant filed a grievance that was submitted to arbitration.  In preparation for arbitration, the union obtained a statement from an employee concerning a doctor’s comment.  The grievant gave a copy of the statement to a patient who had requested the statement to support a medical complaint.  The agency subsequently suspended the grievant for 13 days for violating the order.  The grievant filed another grievance that was submitted to arbitration.

The arbitrator framed the issues as whether the agency suspended the grievant for just cause and whether the agency retaliated against the grievant.  The arbitrator ruled that the suspension was not for just cause because the grievant had not initiated the communication with the patient.  However, he found that the agency had not retaliated because agency officials had a reasonable, although ultimately mistaken, belief that the grievant had repeated her earlier misconduct.  

The arbitrator denied the union’s request for an award of attorney fees on behalf of the grievant.  He concluded that an award of fees was not warranted in the interest of justice because the grievant was not substantially innocent under Allen criterion 2.  Relying on his findings relating to the retaliation issue, he stated that, with only slight modification of the facts, the grievant’s conduct would have been a serious disciplinary matter.  Accordingly, he explained that, although he found the grievant innocent of the charge, the finding was based on subtle considerations rather than clear substantial innocence.

The union has filed exceptions to the award contending that the grievant is substantially innocent as a matter of law because the arbitrator overturned the suspension on the basis that the grievant did not commit the misconduct.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 54 FLRA 1401]
Exercise 45 - Attorney Fees:
The union filed a grievance on behalf of employees deprived of longevity pay.  The arbitrator sustained the grievance and awarded the employees backpay.  The union filed a motion for an award of attorney fees.  The union’s attorney claimed 94 hours of work at an hourly rate of $250.  In support of the hourly rate, the attorney submitted the retainer agreement with the union and with other clients.  The retainer agreements with the private clients provided for an hourly rate of $250.  The retainer agreement with the union also provided for an hourly rate of $250, but with the proviso that the union would be charged an hourly rate of $200 in any matter where the Union is required to pay fees.  The attorney also submitted evidence that his hourly rate of $250 is consistent with the rate prevailing in the area.

The arbitrator ruled that the number of hours was reasonable, but reduced the hourly rate to $200.

The union has filed exceptions to the award contending that the arbitrator should not have reduced the hourly rate.  The union maintains that, when an attorney has a prior billing history, the reasonable hourly rate is the established billing rate.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 56 FLRA 644]
Exercise 46 - Attorney Fees:
The arbitrator mitigated the grievant’s 7-day suspension to a letter of reprimand and awarded the grievant backpay.  The union filed a motion for an award of attorney fees on behalf of the grievant.  In support of the award of attorney fees, the union’s attorney submitted the retainer agreement with the union.  The retainer agreement set forth an hourly billing rate of $330, but specified that the rate was at or below the prevailing market rate to reflect non-economic goals.  The agreement additionally stated that, if the attorney is in a position to seek recovery of legal fees, then the attorney would apply for such fees at the highest allowable prevailing market rates.  In accordance with this agreement, the attorney sought fees at an hourly rate of $465 claiming that this rate was consistent with the prevailing market rate.

Although the arbitrator acknowledged that a rate set forth in a fee agreement is the presumed reasonable rate, the arbitrator determined that the attorney had rebutted that presumption by showing that the requested hourly rate of $465 was consistent with the prevailing market rate.  Accordingly, he awarded the union’s attorney fees at an hourly rate of $465. 

The agency has filed exceptions contending that there is a presumption that the maximum hourly rate that can be awarded is the hourly rate set forth in a fee agreement and that the presumption was not rebutted in this case.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 64 FLRA 1003] 

Exercise 47 - Attorney Fees:
The union filed a grievance claiming that the agency violated the collective bargaining agreement when it closed the installation and granted administrative leave to all employees except the grievants.  The arbitrator sustained the grievance, but reduced the union’s requested remedy from 8 hours of administrative leave to 2 hours of administrative leave.  Thereafter, the union filed a motion for an award of attorney fees.

The arbitrator concluded that all of the statutory requirements for an award of attorney fees had been met.  In addressing the amount of fees, he ruled that the degree of success is a critical factor in the determining what amount of fees is reasonable.  Accordingly, as he had reduced the union’s requested remedy, the arbitrator concluded that the union was entitled to only one quarter of the amount of attorney fees requested.

The union has filed exceptions to the award contending that § 7701(g) does not permit arbitrators to reduce an award of fees to grievants who have prevailed on their grievance.  In opposition, the agency asserts that the standards of prevailing party and reasonable amount are separate and that nothing prevents an arbitrator from considering the degree of success in determining what amount of fees is reasonable.

How should the FLRA rule?

[Based on 54 FLRA 1594]     

